
In the Matter of 1 
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Biddle Sawyer Corporation, ) Docket No. II+S€A-TSI'-88-0244 
1 

=worde& 1 

I. Backclrm 

Biddle Sawyer Corporation (Biddle Sawyer, Applicant, or Resprdent) 

has filed an application for attorney's fees ard expmses, pursuant to 

the applicable provision of the Qua1 Access to Justice Act (EWA) , 5 U. S. C. 

Section 504, as d e d ,  and the imglementing regulations, 40 C.F.R. 

Part 17, of the United States Enviromtal Protection Agency (EPA, Agency 

or Camplainant). 

The Applicant was the Respordent in an administrative proceeding under 

the mxic Substances Control A d  (TSCA), =ion 16(a), 15 U.S.C. Section 

2615(a), for the assessment of civil penalties for the alleged violations 

of TSCA. The amplaint alleged that Biddle Sawyer failed to amply with 

the requirement contained in 40 C.F.R. Section 766.35(a) (1) (i) to file a 

letter of intent to test or to submit an exaption application for the 

imprtation of the chemical substance 2,3,5,6-Tetrachlorcl-2,5-cyclohexa- 

diene-1,4-dione (chloranil or Tetra) to the EPA. The q l a i n t  sought a 

civil penalty of $5,000.00. Settlement negotiations ensued but the parties 

w e r e  unable to agree on a settlement. 



On September 27, 1990, as FYesiding Officer in the matter, I issued 

an alerated Decision dismissing the amplaint for the reason that EPA 

had not &awn that Biddle Sawyer was required to subnit a letter of irrterrt 

to test or an application for -ion, as q e d .  m e  decision keame 
A/ 

final on N m a k r  16, 1990. 

Biddle Sawyer filed an application for attorney's fees and expmses 
2/ 

under the EAJA on November 20, 1990. EPA filed an answer asserting that 

the application ladced rquiremnts set out in 40 C.F.R. Part 17, S k p a r k  

A and B. Specifically, the application lacked, inter alia, signature of 

Applicant as required by 40 C.F.R. Section 17.11(f). ~iddle Sawyer filed 

a motion for leave to file an amended application and an amaxled application 

on January 10, 1991. In addition, EPA filed a mem0rardu-n in opposition to 

the Applicant's motion for leave to file an amerded application for attomeyfs 

fees and expenses. 

EPA requests that the motion for leave to file an amended application 

be denied and the case be dismissed because Biddle Sawyer failed to include 

infomation required by 40 C.F.R. Part 17, in the original application. 

1/ Under 40 C.F.R. Section 22.27, an initial decision becaws final 45 - 
days after service on parties. The decision was issued on septaber 27, 
1990. Because service was made by mail, five additional days were added 
pursuant to Section 22.07 (c) . Neither party elect4 to appeal, and the 
administrator did not decide to review the decision, so the decision 
became final on N o v e m b e r  16, 1990. 

2/ Under the EAJA, an application for attorney's fees must be filed no - 
later than 30 days after final disposition of adjudication, making this 
a timely application. 5 U.S.C. Section 504 (a) (2) ; 40 C.F.R. Section 
17.14. 



EPA asserts that failure to include this informtion in the original 

application bars eligibility of the application because including such 

information in an anemled application would not be filw in a timely 
3/ 

fashion. 

Thus, Biddle Sawyerfs application presents two issues. First, I 

must determine whether I may consider supplementary d-tation and 

allow Biddle Sawyer to amm3 its application for attorneyfs fees. Second, 

if I conclude that I may ansider such wlementaq documntation, then 

I must detmmbe the amunt, if any, w h i c h  Biddle Sawyer m y  recover for 

attorneyf s fees and expenses. 

11. Whether to Allm Surmlementan Docmentation 

In order to be eligible for attorney's fees under the ERTA, an appli- 

cant must (1) suhnit an application within 30 days of the final decision; 

(2) show that the applicant is a preniling party and eligible to receive 
4/ 

the award; (3) itemize the amount sought; an3 (4) allege that the position - 

_s/ 
of the opposing party was not substantially justified. The court will 

award fees and other e x p e x e s  unless the position of the Agency was 
51 

subtantially justified, or special circ-3unrstances made an award unjust. 

3/ Answer, pp. 4-5 (Decaker 21, 1990). - 

4/ To be eligible, the applicant must be a lfpartyn who is (1) an individual 
;hose net w o r t h  did not exceed $2,000,000 at the the the civil action was 
filed; (2) awn a Winess whose net worth did not exceed $7,000,000 at the 
time action was filed ard employ less than 500 employees at the t k  the 
action was filed. 5 U. S. C. Section 504 (b) (1) (B) . 
5/ 5 U. S.C. Section 504 (a) (2) . - 

6/ 5 U.S. C. Section 504 (a) (1) . - 



These r- must be strictly construed because the Act is 
Z/ 

a waiver of the goverrrulentfs sovereign immunity. The jurisdictional 

prerequisites or threshold conditions w h i c h  must be met in arder to 

establish my jurisdiction over this case are the 30 days filing deadline 
81 

and the sh- of eligibility. The applicant has met these conditions. 
21 

Biddle Sawyer filed the application in a timely manner. Biddle Sawyer 

stated in its original application that it is a prevailing party, and that 
10/ 

it mets the eligibility requirenmts. Biddle Sawyer stated that its 

net worth was less than $7,000,000 at the time of filing, as evidenced by 

the attached audited financial stataent, and that it employed fewer than 
111 

100 employees. Lastly, ~iddle Sawyer asserted that EPA was not substan- 
12/ 

tially justified in its position. 

EPA claims the initial application does not meet jurisdictional require- 

ments because it lacked the Applicant's signature. This is not a jurisdic- 

tional requirerrwt established by the EFJA. This rqu i rement  is set forth 

in 40 C.F.R. Section 17.11(f) in EPA's knplefuenting regulations. Con- 

to EPAfs contention, I find that such a regulatory requiraent is a 

procettural rquixement and not a jurisdidio~l one. 

71 Action on Srnokina and Health v. Civil Aeronautics Board, 724 F.2d 211, - 
225 (D.C. Cir. 1984) ("As a waiver of sovereign inununity, the Act must be 
strictly construed. It) . 
81 United States v. Hmkins Dodcr - e Sales, Inc., 707 F. Supp. 1078, 1080 
(D. Minn. 1989). 

21 See swra, p. 2, n. 2. 

101 Application, p. 3. - 

11/ Id. - 

12/ Id., p.4. - 



Even if the signam rqdmmmt were jurisdictional, sc~ne courts 

have allowed supplemmtation of an application to meet eligibility 
13/ 

requiremnts. In Dunn the ccllrrt stated: 

Congress did mt intend that defects in the pleading 
rquiremmts of . . . [the EAJA] be treated as jurisdic- 
tional. So larrg as fee petition is filed w i t h i n  thirty- 
day time period w h i c h  puts the court, and eventually the 
govemnmt, on notice that the petitioner seeks fees 
d e r t h e Q y a l A c c e s s t 0  JusticeAct, theccurtmay 
consider the petition, and may, . . . permit supple- 
mentation. &/ 

Other courts have all& an amndmnt of the application to allow 

applicants to supply the court with mre detailed information regarding 
15/ 

attorney's fees. Because the Applicant filed the original application 

in a timely and has met all of the jurisdictional requirements, I 

accordingly will consider Applicant's supplement to its original suhnission. 

111. The Amount of Recoverable Attornev's Fees and Exwnses 

Having deten;lined that I will consider Applicantfs additional docu- 

mentation, I now turn to the question of haw much, if any, of the fees 

and expemes are recoverable. 

13/ See Dunn v. United States, 775 F. 2d 99 (3d C i r .  1985) . Dunn all= - 
supplementation of an application lacking an itemized staterrent of 
attorney's fees. 

14/ Dunn v. United States, 775 F. 2d at 104. - 

15/ In Public Citizen Health Research (;row v. Y q ,  700 F. Supp. 581, - 
587 (D.D.C. 1988), revld in cart on other crounds, 909 F.2d 546 (D.C. CFr. 
1990) , the court allowed an applicant to suhnit a more detailed affidavit 
of attorney's fees after filing a timely application. In Lavernier Con- 
struction v. United States, 22 C1. Ct. 247 (Jan. 8, 1991) the court allowed 
supplementation of a timely filed application for fees and apnses in 
order to cure itemization defects. 



?he standard for an award of fees ard eqenses incurred in connection 

with an EPA enforcamt proceeding is set forth at 40 C.F.R. Section 17.6, 

w h i c h  provides in pert- part, as f ollms: 

(a) A pevailing applicant may receive an award for fees 
ard acpmes incurred in connection w i t h  a procedng 
unless the position of the EPA . . . was substantially 
justified or unless special circumstances make the award 
sought unjust. No presumption arises that the agency's 
position was not sukstantially justified simply because 
the agency did not prevail. 

16/ 
EPA admits that Applicant is a prevailing party, but contexts that 

Applicant is not entitled to recover fees ard e x p a s e s  bcause  EPAfs position 

was llsubstantially justif iedI1. 

The Scp,rm Court defined the test for usuhstantially justif iedw in 

Pierce v. U n d m ,  487 U.S. 552 (1988). The Court stated that a position 

is justified if it is I1justified in substance or in the min - that is, 
* I  

justified to the degree that could satisfy a reasorable personI1. The 
18/ 

Court then noted that this was in practical effect no different from the 

I1reasonable basis b t h  in law and factv formulation which several Courts of 
19/ 

Appeals have adapted. 

16/ Answer, p. 2. - 

17/ Pierce v. Underwood at 565. - 

19/ See, e.g. ,  Merson v. Heckler, 756 F.2d 1011, 1013 ( 4 t h  Cir. 1985) ; - 
Citizens Council of Delaware County v. grineaar, 741 F.2d 584, 593 (3d Cir. 
1984) ; Foster v. Tourtellotte, 704 F.2d 1109, 1112 (9th Cir. 1983) (per 
curiam) . 



In the initial pmcedhg, EPA charyed Biddle Sawyer w i t h  violations 

of Section 4 of TSCA, 15 U. S.C. Man 2603 ard of rules prcamlgated 

pursuant to Section 4, specif i d l y ,  40 C.F.R. Section 766.35(a) (1) . 
More particularly, the canplaint had alleged that Biddle Sawyer had 

imported c h l o d l  (or Tetra) for  c a m x c i a l  pllrposes between J a i  1, 

1984 and July 6, 1987, and had failed to submit a le t ter  of intent to 

test or an exemption application to EPA no later  than September 3 ,  1987. 

In  my decision I held that B i d d l e  Sawyer c d d  not be held l i ab le  fo r  a 

violation of Section 766.35(a) (1) (i) in view of the fact that, as of the  

effective date of Par t  766, Biddle Sawyer w a s  no longer engaged in the 

importation of chloranil. 

EPA had sought to impose retroactively the regulatory requirement 

on Biddle Sawyer, wfio did not import or manufacture chloranil subequent 

t o  July 6 ,  1987, the effective date of Part 766. Under those circ=urrrstances, 

I concluded that t o  attempt to hold Biddle Sawyer liable would be not 

only unreasonable ard unjust, but also an impermissible retroactive appli- 
a/ 

cation of the regulation. ?here was no reasonable basis in law and fac t  

for  EPAfs position that B i d d l e  Sawyer had violated TSCA an3 the i m p l m t i n g  

regulations thereurder. A r x o ~ l y ,  I hold that the Agencyfs position 

was not substantially justified and the awardkg cf fees and ~~ 
cannot be denied on those grcxnds. 

EPA also raised the issue of %pcial circumstances1t as a justifica- 

t ion for deny- Applicant's request for fees and expemes. What constitutes 

a "special cir-If is not clearly defined in the statute or the 

20/ See Accelerated Decision, p. 29. - 



regulations. Ihe hrden of proving the special c- or the 

suhstarrtial justification exception to the mar&tory award of fees under 

EPA claims the special circumstances in this case are that Applicant 

maintained control over the chemical subs- for eight .months following 
&/ 

the effective date of the rule. EPA r w  that I extend the definition 

of "importation11 uder TSCA to include possession of the product until an 
231 

importer no longer has control of the chemical sW&mce. FPA claims 

that tlimportationw does not cease with the act of entering the United 

States, but continues until the importer sells or otherwise no longer 
241 

has control/possession of the mktmce. The Agency offers no supporting 

case law or legislative history for this argumnt, making it weak at 

best; and, therefore, I conclude the Agency has failed to meet the burden 

of proving that special circumstances exist w h i c h  IMke the award W t  

unjust. 

211 See Haitian Refusee Center v. Meese, 791 F.2d 1489, 1496 (11th Cir.) , 
af f Id in Dart and revld in Part, 804 F. 2d 1573 (1986) ; Keasler v. United 
States, 585 F. Sqp.  825, 830 (E.D. Ark, 1984). 

22/ Answer, p. 13. - 



m. TvDes of Fees ard ExsEwes 

Biddle Sawyer has filed a claim for an award of attorney's fees of 
25/ 

$26,823.75 a r d m e g a l  andotherexpnses of $3,828.96, -a 

Althcugh case law is divided on the scape of expnses recoverable 
26/ 

under the ERTA, generally all ttr~nable and m c s s r y  expemesm 

incurred by an attarney in preparation for trial which are a s b m r i l y  
--, 
L / /  

cbryed to the client are recoverable. It is the responsibility of 
28/ 

the Presiding Officer to determine what is tlreasoMblett. 

EPA objects to e x p n s e s  chary& during the attempted settlement of 
a/ 

the case prior t o  adjudication. Although the Supreme Court has ruled 

that fees can be recovered for all phases of litigation, it has not 
30/ 

specifically addressed the issue of settlement. Other courts have held 

25/ Application, p. 7 (357.65 hours times a rate of $75.00 per hour). - 

26/ Kellv v. Ba?en, 862 F.2d 1333, 1335 (8th Cir. 1988) . - 

271 International W-rkers of America v. Donovan, 769 F.2d 1388, - 
1392 (9th Cir. 1985); ~liveira v. United States, 827 F.2d 735, 744 
(Fed. Cir. 1987 j . 
28/ Henslev v. Eckerhark, 461 U.S. 424, 433 (1983) . - 

30/ See Cmmissioner, I.N.S. v. Jean, 495 U.S. , - 110 SCt , 110 
L.M. 2d 134, 146-147. (1990) (ltCongress intended the EPJA to cover the costs 
of all phases of successful civil litigation addressed by the statutet1). 



31/ 
that settl-t of a case does not preclude application of the EAJA. 

Furthermore, legislative history inaicates that the EaSA applies to parties - 

32/ 
who prevail by consent or settlemnt. Therefore, I hold that fees 

incurred dm- the settlement pr- are recaverable in this case. 

I likewise reject the Agencyls contention that counsels1 hours be 
33/ 

subject to reduction as a result of "excessive or duplicative1* work. 

While duplication of effort is a praper graurd for reducing haurs, @la 

reduction is warranted only if the attorneys are unreasonably doing the 
a/ 

sarrre workt1. Use of mltiple counsel in ccrmplex cases is understa&ble 

and not grow& for rducing hours because it is ccnrmzon in litigation to 
35/ 

use a team of attorneys who divide up work. The Agency has pointed to 

no specific instances where the work of R.esprdentf s counsels w a s  unreason- 

ably duplicative. I find, therefore, that the numb=r of hours of work by 

the attorneys shall not be reduced on these grounds. 

31/ Dubose v. Pierce, 857 F. 2d 889 (2d Cir. 1985) (holding that even 
where stipllation of settl-t that no fees be paid from settlwent 
furd did not preclude application of m) ; Alslsach v. District D i r e c t o r  
of In-1 Revenue, 527 F. Supp. 225 (D.C. MI 1981) (applying EPJA 
where applicant was a tlprevailing party as result of settlemerrtIt) . 
32/ H. Conf. Rep. 96-1434 at 21, 96th Cong., 2d Sess. reprinted in - 
1980 U.S. Code C o q .  & Pbmn. N&s, at 5010. 

331 See Answer, p. 18. EPA objects to the fact that two Senior Attorneys 
%e assigned to the case ard asks that their hours h reduced by half. 

34/ Johnson v. Vniversitv Colleae of Univ. of A l a b a ~ ~ ,  706 F.2d 1205, - 
1208 (11th Cir.), ozt. denied, 464 U.S. 994 (1983). 

35/ Jean v. Nelson, 863 F.2d 759, 772 (11th Cir. 1988), affld sub nom - 
Cmm.issioner. I.N.S. v. Jean, 495 U.S. , 110 L. Ed. 2d 134 (1990). 



EPA also objects to the alleged lesser v i e n c e  of Mr. Bickerman, 
36/ 

an associate on the case. EPA requests that this attomeyfs hourly 

rate be raced to $55.00 frcan $75.00, citing Action on Smakins and Health 

v. C.A.B., 724 F.2d 211, 220-21 (D.C. Cir 1984) and N.A.A.C.P. v. Dam, 

554 F. Spp. 715, 719 (D.C. Dist. 1982) as authority. Both of the&? cases 

addtress the issue of &&her an attorneyfs skill is a sufficient factor to 
371 

increase the lodestar mt allowed by statute, nut to decrease it. 

The supreme Court has ruled that "adjushnerrts up or d m  are agpmpriate 

where the fee &dry& is out of line w i t h  the nature of the services 
381 

renderedw. Absent any evidence of this kind, ard taking into consider- 

ation that the ammt charged is subtantially less than usually charyed 

by these individuals, I find the $75.00 amount to be reasonable. 

Lastly, EpA objects to other expemes listed, including: toll calls; 

duplicating; local transportation; managing attorneyf s fees; L e x k  charyes; 
39/ 

pcrstage; telempyirq; mssenger; and meals. Some courts have viewed 

the specific item set forth in the statute as an exclusive list of the 
40/ 

expmes recoverable under the EAJA. Other courts have interpreted the 

36/ Answer, p. 18. - 

37/ At 5 U.S.C., M i o n  504(b) (1) (A), the statute, in pertinent part, - 
states: Inattorneys . . . fees shall not be awarded in excess of $75 
per hwr unless the agency determines by regulation that an increase 
in the cost of living or a special factor, such as the limited avail- 
ability of qualified attorneys . . . for the proceedings involved, 
justifies a higher feeH. 

38/ Pierce v. M e ,  487 U.S. 552, 581 (1988). - 

39/ Answer, pp. 19-20. - 
40/ See, e.g., Action on Smokins & Health v. c.A.B., 724 F.2d 211, 223-24 - 
(D.C. Cir . 1984) (a1lah-g only photocopying costs) ; Weaklev v. W e n ,  803 
F. 2d 575, 580 (10th Cir. 1986) (disallowing postage fees) . 



a/ 
itans listed as examples of c%pemes for w h i c h  ccarrpensation may be g m n t d .  

The Secard circuit has rules that tele@~~ne, postage, travel and photo- 

capyhg costs are reimknsable uder ERSA as reasonable Itfees ard other 
42/ 

exgmsest1 . The latter interpretation is consistent with the sta ix toq 
43/ - .  

objectives of the EAJA. The limitation on the m t  and nature of 

expmses is that they nust be "necessary for the preparation of the 
44/ 

[prevailixq] party's caseqq. I therefore hold that w i t h  the -on 

of meals which are a cost of daily livirq, the challenged e x p n s s  m y  be 

reimbursed under ERTA. 

[40/ continued] 
"Fees ard expnsesI1 is defined at 5 U. S. C. Section 504 (b) (1) (A) as 

including Itthe reasonable expenses of e x p r t  witnesses, the reasonable 
cost of any study, analysis, engheering report, test, or project which 
is found by the agency to be necessary for the preparation of the party's 
case, and reasonable attorney or agent fees. . . .I1 By including these 
items not usually w e d  to clients, Congress intenled to enlarge, not 
contract, the category of expxlitures. Jean v. Nelson, 863 F. 2d at 778. 

411 See, e.g., International Wcdworkers Lcxal 3-98 v. Donovan, 769 F.2d - 
1388, 1392 (9th C i r .  1985) (telephone, travel postage and air ccxnier) ; 
Oliveira v. United States, 827 F.2d 735, 744 (Fed. Cir. 1987) (ph-ing, 
tel-one, postal, printing and binding of briefs) ; Jean v. Nelson, 863 
F. 2d at 778 (telephone, reasonable travel, Fastage, ard conqxrterized 
research). 

42/ Aston v. SecretarV - of Health and Humn Services, 808 F. 2d 9, 12 
(2d C i r .  1986) . 

44/ 5 U.S.C. Section 504 (b) (1) (A) , - 



In conclusion, I am of the opinion that Biddle Sawyer is entitled to 

the follawing fees ard apenses under the ERJA: 

Attorney Time: 375.65 hans @ $75.00 = $26,823.75 

Ekpnses (1- moedls): $3,828.96 -$25.00 = $ 3.823.96 

$30,627.71 

-ly, it is reaamxded that Biddle Sawyer h awarded fees and 

expnses  in the amxznt of $30,627.71. 

Dated: 


